IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLAYTON HARRIS,

ORIGINAL

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

case no. sc <u>08-187</u>

First DCA No. 1D06-6497

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF THE DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF PETITIONER

NANCY A. DANIELS
PUBLIC DEFENDER
SECOND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

GLEN P. GIFFORD APPELLATE DIVISION CHIEF ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 664261 301 S. MONROE ST., SUITE 401 TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (850) 606-8500

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The trial court denied a motion to suppress evidence obtained pursuant to a drug-sniffing dog's alert to a car door. As part of the single issue raised on appeal, Harris asserted that the state's failure to produce evidence of the dog's field accuracy record during the suppression hearing precluded a finding of probable cause for the search. The First District Court of Appeal affirmed the conviction per curiam, as follows:

AFFIRMED. See State v. Laveroni, 910 So.2d 333 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005); State v. Coleman, 911 So.2d 259 (Fla. 5th DCA 2005). Contra Gibson v. State, 968 So.2d 631 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007) (following Matheson v. State, 870 So.2d 8 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003)).

Harris v. State, 33 Fla. L. Weekly D 2128 (Fla. 1st DCA Sept. 4, 2008).

Harris filed timely notice of discretionary review on September 26, 2008.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The First District's citation to <u>Laveroni</u> from the Fourth District and <u>Coleman</u> from the Fifth District, and its *contra* cite to <u>Gibson</u> from the Second District, create express and direct conflict on the issue common to all three cases: whether the state's failure to produce field accuracy records for a drug detection dog precludes a finding that an alert to the exterior of a vehicle by the dog creates probable cause to search the interior of the vehicle. A per curiam affirmance which "explicitly notes a contrary holding of another district court of another district court or of this Court" creates express and direct interdistrict conflict triggering this Court's discretionary review power under article V, section 3(b)(3), Florida Constitution. <u>See Florida Star v. B.J.F.</u>, 530 So. 2d 286, 288 n.3 (Fla. 1988).

Discretionary review is warranted. This is the fifth district court decision since 2005 recognizing the conflict. No further review was sought in two cases; this Court dismissed another; the fourth is pending a decision on discretionary review on a different issue. The conflict will persist until this Court resolves it. This is the appropriate vehicle to unify the state's courts on this important issue.

ARGUMENT

THIS COURT SHOULD ACCEPT THIS CASE TO RESOLVE PERSISTENT INTERDISTRICT CONFLICT ON THE NECESSITY OF EVIDENCE OF FIELD PERFORMANCE RECORDS TO PROBABLE CAUSE DETERMINATIONS IN DOGSNIFF CASES.

In <u>Matheson v. State</u>, 870 So. 2d 8 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), the Second District ruled that to establish probable cause for a vehicle search based on an alert to the exterior of the vehicle by a trained drug-detection dog, the state must adduce evidence establishing the dog's performance history. <u>Id.</u> at 15. This Court accepted and then dismissed the case on discretionary review. <u>See State v. Matheson</u>, 896 So. 2d 748 (Fla. 2005).

The Third District certified conflict with Matheson and held:

We therefore conclude that the state can make a prima facie showing of probable cause based on a narcotic dog's alert by demonstrating that the dog has been properly trained and certified. If the defendant wishes to challenge the reliability of the dog, he can do so by using the performance records of the dog, or other evidence, such as expert testimony. Whether probable cause has been established will then be resolved by the trial court.

State v. Laveroni, 910 So. 2d 333, 336 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005) (citations omitted). The Fifth District adopted this excerpt from Laveroni and also certified conflict with Matheson. See State v. Coleman, 911 So. 2d 259, 261 (Fla. 5th DCA 2005). Evidently, neither Laveroni nor Coleman sought this Court's review.

Next, the Second District applied its holding in <u>Matheson</u> in another dogsniff case to conclude:

Although the officer who handled the dog testified that the dog was certified and had completed 400 hours of training, the State failed to elicit any testimony from him regarding the dog's track record. The officer admitted that drugs are not always found when the dog alerts, but he could not quantify the percentage of false alerts. Under Matheson, the officer's testimony was inadequate to establish the dog's reliability. Thus, the State did not meet its burden to demonstrate that the officers had probable cause to search Gibson's car.

State v. Gibson, 968 So. 2d 631, 632 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007). The court certified conflict with <u>Laveroni</u> and <u>Coleman</u>. As in <u>Matheson</u>, this Court accepted discretionary review but then dismissed the case. <u>State v. Gibson</u>, 985 So. 2d 1088 (Fla. 2008).

In this case, the Court's per curiam affirmance with citations to <u>Laveroni</u> and <u>Coleman</u> balanced by a *contra* cite to <u>Gibson</u> and acknowledgment that <u>Gibson</u> followed <u>Matheson</u>, puts the First District's decision in express and direct conflict with both <u>Gibson</u> and <u>Matheson</u>. Express and direct conflict of district court decisions under article V, section 3(b)(3), Florida Constitution, arises when a citation PCA "explicitly notes a contrary holding of another district court of another district court or of this Court." <u>Florida Star v. B.J.F.</u>, 530 So. 2d 286, 288 n.3 (Fla. 1988).

Four of Florida's five district courts have now weighed in on this issue, and are divided three to one. This case presents an opportunity to unify the state's courts on a recurring issue: whether the state must present a drug detecting dog's field record to establish that the dog's alert creates probable cause for a search.

This issue is unlikely to be resolved in <u>Tedder v. State</u>, No. SC08-1055, which is pending a decision on jurisdiction. There the Second District adhered to its holdings in <u>Matheson</u> and <u>Gibson</u> and again certified conflict with <u>Laveroni</u> and <u>Coleman</u>. See <u>Tedder v. State</u>, 33 Fla. L. Weekly D704, D705 (Fla. 2d DCA Mar. 7, 2008). However, <u>Tedder</u> is a two-holding decision. In an opinion by now-Justice Canady, the Second District ordered suppression of the fruits of the search prompted by the dog's alert but rejected Tedder's claim that the officer's retention of Tedder's license converted an encounter into a detention and rendered Tedder's statements suppressible. <u>Id.</u> at D706. The jurisdictional briefs show that it is on the latter issue that Tedder seeks, and the state opposes, discretionary review. Thus, this case, if accepted for discretionary review, will not necessarily be controlled by a decision in <u>Tedder</u>. Briefing on the merits, rather than a stay pending the decision in <u>Tedder</u>, may be warranted.

The persistent interdistrict conflict—recognized in five district court opinions from 2005 through this case--justifies discretionary review. Until the conflict is resolved, the probable cause threshold in dog-sniff cases will remain

different in the Second District than in the First, Fourth, and Fifth Districts. This case is the appropriate vehicle to resolve the conflict and unify the state's courts on this important issue.

CONCLUSION

Based on the arguments contained herein and the authorities cited in support thereof, appellant requests that this Honorable Court accept this case for discretionary review and direct briefing on the merits.