IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

CLAYTON HARRIS,

Petitioner,

Case No. SC08-1871

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

ON DISCRETIONARY REVIEW OF THE DECISION OF THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL

AMENDED JURISDICTIONAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

TRISHA MEGGS PATE
TALLAHASSEE BUREA CHIEF
CRIMINAL APPEALS
FLORIDA BAR NO. 045489

NATALIE D. KIRK ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR NO. 045489

OFFICE OF THE ATTORNEY GENERAL PL-01, THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (850) 414-3300 (850) 922-6674 (FAX) Natalie.Kirk@myfloridalegal.com

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Respondent, the State of Florida, the respondent in the District Court of Appeal (DCA) and the prosecuting authority in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Respondent, the prosecution, or the State. Petitioner, Clayton Harris, the petitioner in the DCA and the defendant in the trial court, will be referenced in this brief as Petitioner or by proper name.

"PJB" will designate Petitioner's Jurisdictional Brief.

That symbol is followed by the appropriate page number.

A bold typeface will be used to add emphasis. Italics appeared in original quotations, unless otherwise indicated.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE AND FACTS

The State accepts Petitioner's statement of the case and facts. (PJB at 1).

The State adds the following procedural history: in Gibson v. State, 968 So. 2d 631 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007), which followed Matheson v. State, 870 So. 2d 8 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003), the Second District certified conflict with State v. Laveroni, 910 So. 2d 333 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005), and State v. Coleman, 911 So. 3d 259 (Fla. 5th DCA 2005). This Court granted review in Gibson at Gibson v. State, 973 So. 2d 1123 (Fla. Jan 04, 2008), but discharged Gibson on July 3, 2008, stating that it had chosen

not to exercise its jurisdiction. <u>State v. Gibson</u>, 985 So. 2d 1088 (Fla. 2008).

On September 4, 2008, the First District released its opinion in Harris v. State, 989 So. 2d 1214 (Fla. 1st DCA 2008), which follows Laveroni and Coleman but indicates that Gibson's holding is contrary to Laveroni and Coleman, noting that Gibson had followed Matheson.

On September 29, 2008, Petitioner filed his notice invoking discretionary review and on October 2, 2008, his initial jurisdictional brief. On October 3, 2008, this Court dismissed the petition for discretionary review, noting that this Court did not have jurisdiction.

Petitioner filed a motion for reinstatement on October 10, 2008, arguing that because <u>Harris</u> contains a contra citation, this provides a basis for jurisdiction under <u>Florida Star v. B.F.J.</u>, 530 So. 2d 286, 288 n.3 (Fla. 1988). This Court reinstated the petition for review on October 17, 2008.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The State disagrees with Petitioner's argument that this Court has jurisdiction under Florida Star, 530 So. 2d at 288, because the contra citation in Harris to Gibson does not "explicitly note[] a contrary holding of another district court." Rather, Harris merely cites to Gibson with a parenthetical that Gibson followed Matheson and does not explicitly establish the point of law or holding in Gibson with which it disagree.

But even if this Court had jurisdiction, because <u>Harris</u> cites to precisely the same conflict cases as <u>Gibson</u> but does so without an opinion, the State can offer no more compelling reason why this Court ought to exercise its discretion and take jurisdiction to resolve the conflict in <u>Harris</u> than was already presented to this Court in Gibson.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THIS COURT HAS JURISDICTION TO REVIEW THE FIRST DISTRICT COURT OF APPEAL'S PER CURIAM DENIAL WITHOUT OPINION IN HARRIS V. STATE, 989 So. 2d 1214 (Fla. 1ST DCA 2008)? (Restated)

The First District Court of Appeal issued a per curiam affirmance in this case, <u>Harris v. State</u>, 989 So. 2d 1214, 1215 (Fla. 1ST DCA 2008), citing <u>State v. Laveroni</u>, 910 So. 2d 333 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005), and <u>State v. Coleman</u>, 911 So. 3d 259 (Fla. 5th DCA 2005). The First District also cited as contrary authority <u>Gibson v. State</u>, 968 So. 2d 631 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007), noting in a parenthetical that <u>Gibson</u> followed <u>Matheson v.</u> State, 870 So. 2d 8 (Fla. 2d DCA 2003).

Article V, section 3(b)(3), Florida Constitution, states that, in order to meet jurisdictional requirements, the decisional conflict must be both **express** and direct:

(b) JURISDICTION. - The supreme court:

. . . .

(3) May review any decision of a district court of appeal ... that **expressly** and directly conflicts with a decision of another district court of appeal or of the supreme court on the same question of law.

(Emphasis added).

Generally, this Court does not review per curiam opinions from the district courts. In <u>Tippens v. State</u>, 897 So. 2d 1278, 1280 (Fla. 2005), a case relying on and explaining the case upon which Petitioner relies, <u>Florida Star v. B.J.F.</u>, 530 So. 2d 286 (Fla. 1988), this Court explained this and outlined the several exceptions:

[T]his Court explained that its direct conflict jurisdiction is a two-tiered concept: "The first [tier] is a general grant of discretionary subject-matter jurisdiction, and the second [tier] is a constitutional command as to how the discretion itself may be exercised." Florida Star II, 530 So.2d at 288. The Court described the first-tier limitations thusly:

Court does not, however, subject-matter jurisdiction over a district court opinion that fails expressly to address a question of law, such decision] issued without opinion orcitation.... Moreover, there can be actual conflict discernible in an opinion containing only a citation to other case law unless one of the cases cited as controlling authority is pending before this Court, or has been reversed on appeal or review, or receded from by this Court, or unless the citation explicitly notes a contrary holding of another district court or of this Court.

Florida Star II, 530 So. 2d at 288 n. 3. Specifically, the district court decision under review "must contain a statement or citation effectively establishing a point of law upon which the decision rests." Id. at 288.

<u>Tippens</u>, 897 So. 2d at 1280 (emphasis added).

The State disagrees with Petitioner that Florida Star II provides this Court with a basis for jurisdiction based on the

contra citation in the First District's per curiam affirmance in Harris, as the citation in Harris does not "explicitly note[] a contrary holding of another district court." Florida Star II, 530 So. 2d at 288 n. 3; Tippens, 897 So. 2d at 1280. In other words, the First District's citation to Gibson expressly note the holding or legal point from Gibson with which the First District disagreed. Rather, the First District only noted that Gibson followed Matheson. Thus, Harris does not "contain a statement or citation effectively establishing a point of law upon which the decision rests." Florida Star II, 530 So. 2d at 288. While it could be inferred from the First District's citation to Coleman and Laveroni and contra citation to Gibson that the same conflicting legal issue is present in Harris as was present in those cases, inferences are not The Florida Constitution requires conflicting point of law must be explicit or express. Art. V, § 3(b)(3), Fla. Const. Florida Star II merely recognizes that a per curiam with a contra citation may satisfy this requirement when the contra citation's holding is explicitly noted. Florida Star II, 530 So. 2d at 288 n. 3; Tippens, 897 So. 2d at 1280.

Moreover, because this Court discharged jurisdiction in Gibson on July 3, 2008, see State v. Gibson, 985 So. 2d 1088, 1089 (Fla. 2008), and Harris was not issued until September 4,

2008, this Court does not have jurisdiction under Jollie v. State, 405 So. 2d 418 (Fla. 1981)("We thus conclude that a district court of appeal per curiam opinion which cites as controlling authority a decision that is either pending review in or has been reversed by this Court continues to constitute prima facie express conflict and allows this Court to exercise its jurisdiction.").

But even if this Court had jurisdiction, this Court should not exercise it given this Court's discharge of <u>Gibson</u>. In this Court's order discharging jurisdiction in <u>Gibson</u>, in which case the Second District relied on <u>Matheson</u> and certified conflict with <u>Coleman</u> and <u>Laveroni</u>, this Court stated as follows:

We initially accepted jurisdiction of this case, Gibson v. State, 968 So. 2d 631 (Fla. 2d DCA 2007), on the basis of certified direct conflict with State v. Coleman, 911 So. 2d 259 (Fla. 5th DCA 2005), and State v. Laveroni, 910 So. 2d 333 (Fla. 4th DCA 2005). Upon further consideration, we have determined that we should exercise our discretion and discharge jurisdiction. Accordingly, we hereby discharge jurisdiction and dismiss review.

985 So. 2d at 1089. While this Court did not indicate that review was improvidently granted in <u>Gibson</u>, given that the First District has cited to precisely the same conflict, i.e. the conflict between <u>Gibson</u>, <u>Coleman</u>, and <u>Laveroni</u>, it appears that even if this Court accepted jurisdiction, it is inclined not to

¹ <u>See Gibson</u>, 968 So. 2d at 632.

exercise jurisdiction. Further, because there is no opinion in this case, this Court cannot look to the four corners of <u>Harris</u> to determine whether the case is more important of more compelling for purposes of exercising its jurisdiction than the legal issue which was presented in Gibson.

CONCLUSION

Based on the foregoing, this Court does not have express and direct conflict jurisdiction over this case. Alternatively, even if this Court has jurisdiction to hear this case, in light of <u>Gibson</u>, the State can offer no compelling reason why the State should exercise that jurisdiction than what was presented to this Court in Gibson.